Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-14-2017

State v. Robins Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44296

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal in a criminal case. This Court should vacate the conviction and dismiss the case because the district court erred in failing to disqualify the Ada County Prosecuting Attorney's office after it confiscated an attorney-client confidential document and then did not prohibit the prosecutors who viewed the document from participating in the case. Alternatively, a new trial should be ordered because the district court erred when it: 1) refused to order the Ada County Jail to uniformly allow Mr. Robins to telephone his attorney during regular business hours; 2) denied the motion to sever defendants; and 3) admitted a letter written by the co-defendant over objection. In the second alternative, the order of restitution should be reversed in part because the court abused its discretion in taking judicial notice and there was no evidence that Medicaid is a victim under the applicable statute.

B. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

John Douglas was charged with committing the First-Degree Murders of Elliot Bailey and Travone Calloway, and with the Attempted First-Degree Murder of Jeanette Juraska. Appellant Anthony Robins was charged with Aiding and Abetting Mr. Douglas in all three counts. R 114-115.

Mr. Robins pleaded not guilty. R 124. He later moved for Relief from Prejudicial Joinder with Mr. Douglas's case. R 161. Mr. Robins also moved the

court for an Order to Show Cause and for Other Appropriate Relief because the state had invaded Mr. Robins's attorney-client privilege when it seized and examined notes intended for his attorneys. R 139. Mr. Robins also filed a Motion to Compel Access to Counsel because the jail was limiting his telephone access to one hour per day, often not during business hours. R 218. The court refused to grant any relief on all of these motions. R 293. These motions and the court's rulings will be discussed in greater detail below.

The state's theory at trial was that Samari Winn (who was tried separately) led Douglas to the home of Bailey and Calloway, and that Mr. Douglas shot and killed them and also shot Jeanette Juraska, who survived. Mr. Robins, according to the state, was the organizer of the murder plot and driver. The motive was that Bailey and Calloway were suspected of stealing 30 pounds of marijuana from the house that Mr. Winn, Anton Raider, and Mr. Robins rented. Mr. Robins lived in California and supplied Mr. Raider with marijuana. Mr. Raider denied any direct involvement in the shootings. He testified in support of the state's theory in exchange for substantial benefits in both state and federal courts. Mr. Robins's defense was that Mr. Raider was the victim of the marijuana theft, had the motive to kill Bailey and Calloway, and was the one who drove to and from the house in his van. Mr. Raider admitted he provided the murder weapon, ammunition and the van, and even admitted to buying bleach and power washing the interior of the van after the shootings. See T (1/19/2016) pg. 192-214; pg. 228-237 (opening

statements).

Aileen Browud, a neighbor of the victims, saw two men get out of Mr. Raider's van and walk down the street. She then heard gunfire. T (1/19/2016) pg. 246, ln. 8 - 247, ln. 13. She could not identify the ethnicity of either man. T (1/19/2016) pg. 253, ln. 19-23. However, another neighbor, Matt Jamison, also heard the gunfire and saw the two men, one black and the other white quickly leaving the scene. T (1/19/2016) pg. 267, ln. 2 - pg. 268, ln. 2; pg. 293, 2-25; pg. 295, ln. 5-20. He then saw Mr. Raider's van leaving. T (1/19/2016) pg. 270, ln. 2-14. Mr. Winn, Mr. Douglas, and Mr. Robins are all black. Exhibits 125-127. Mr. Raider is the only white person among the possible participants. Exhibits 73, 119.

Ms. Juraska testified that the doorbell rang and she opened the door. Mr. Winn and Mr. Douglas were on the porch. Mr. Douglas entered and shot everyone. She called 911. T (1/22/2016) pg. 40, ln. 12- pg. 45, ln. 13. She had met Mr. Douglas in California a few months prior, but did not immediately identify him as the shooter. T (1/22/2016) pg. 54, ln. 4 - pg. 57, ln. 22; pg. 168, ln. 4 - pg. 169, ln. 11. She later picked a photograph of Mr. Douglas out of a montage and identified him in court. T (1/22/2016) pg. 60, ln. 8 - pg. 61, ln. 19; pg. 62, ln. 13-19. Neither of the neighbors nor Ms. Juraska saw Mr. Robins.

Mr. Raider put the blame on Mr. Robins for organizing the shooting and driving his van. The defense was that Mr. Raider was the organizer/driver as he had the motive, the means, and the opportunity. T (1/19/2016) pg. 326, ln. 15 - pg.

237, ln. 4.

Mr. Raider explained that he sold drugs and that Mr. Robins was his supplier. T (1/25/2016) pg. 9, ln. 22-25. Mr. Raider and Mr. Winn lived in a rented house in Boise. Mr. Robins also had a room there, although his residence was in California. T (1/25/2016) pg. 22, ln. 1-24. One day in late October of 2013, a woman delivered two roller bags containing 30 pounds of marijuana to the house. Mr. Raider said he placed them in Mr. Robins's room because "it's not my weed or it's not – they are not my suitcases." T (1/25/2016) pg. 29, ln. 4 - pg. 30, ln. 8; pg. 34, ln. 17-23. The roller bags were stolen on October 31, while Mr. Raider was out attending to business and partying. T (1/25/2016) pg. 31, ln. 17 - pg. 32, ln. 12.

According to Mr. Raider, Mr. Robins suspected Bailey and Calloway were the thieves and said that "Big Man would be coming into town to handle the situation . . . and that he was interested in purchasing one of my handguns." T (1/25/2016) pg. 35, ln. 6-25; pg. 39, ln. 21 - pg. 40, ln. 4. With that knowledge, Mr. Raider agreed to sell a .45 caliber handgun. T (1/25/2016) pg. 41, ln. 4-23. He also went to Cabela's to buy ammunition. Exhibits 111-113. After retrieving the pistol from his mom's house, cleaning it, helping load it, and driving Mr. Douglas around to look for Bailey and Calloway, Mr. Raider claimed that he "told them I didn't really want anything to do with any of it." T (1/25/2016) pg. 47, ln. 3-4. Even so, Mr. Raider admitted he then drove Mr. Winn and Mr. Douglas to scout the house. T (1/25/2016) pg. 48, ln. 5-12.

Mr. Robins arrived in Boise the next day. Mr. Raider testified that he left the house to go to a barbeque, but came back to clear out his "weed and the guns . . . just in case" the police came after the shootings. T (1/25/2016) pg. 51, ln. 23 - pg. 53, ln. 1. But instead of doing that, he gave the van key to Mr. Robins. T (1/25/2016) pg. 53, ln. 9-13. Mr. Raider said that the others left in the van and he went into his room, "rolled a joint and sat down." T (1/25/2016) pg. 54, ln. 6-7. About 20-30 minutes later they returned. Mr. Raider noticed his van was missing but did not ask where it was; instead he "went back into [his] room . . . to go finish the joint[.]" T(1/25/2016) pg. 54, 15-22. Mr. Raider said that Mr. Robins and Mr. Douglas then went to a strip club. Mr. Winn rode his bike back to the van, retrieved the murder weapon, threw it into a dumpster, rode back to the house and called for a cab. Mr. Raider left the house on his motorcycle and went to his friends' house where he "hung out and smoked weed, just chilled." T (1/25/2016) pg. 58, ln. 18 - pg. 61, ln. 12. The next day, Mr. Raider located the van, cleaned it out with bleach "and then drove it to a car wash and pressure washed the inside of it." T (1/25/2016) pg. 71, ln. 9-12. He was photographed at the hardware store buying the bleach. Exhibit 73. While Mr. Raider claimed that Mr. Robins told him where the van was located during a telephone call, his cell phone records did not show such a call. T (1/26/2016), pg. 74, ln. 15 - pg. 75, ln. 22; Exhibits 76, C.

It was unfortunate for Mr. Raider that he did not clear out his house as he intended because it was later searched by the police. As a result, he was charged in

federal court with possession of marijuana and with possession of a weapon in connection with a drug crime. Due to his cooperation in this case, he received a five-year sentence in federal court. In addition, he pleaded guilty to aiding and abetting first-degree murder in state court in exchange for a concurrent five-year sentence. Thus, his total time served was not increased by his admitted participation in the murders. T (1/25/2016) pg. 76, ln. 6 - pg. 77, ln. 16; pg. 146, ln. 1-2.

Mr. Robins argued Mr. Raider was putting the blame on him for what Mr. Raider had actually done. He argued that it was Mr. Raider's marijuana which was stolen, that Mr. Raider was mad at Bailey and Calloway for stealing it, that it was Mr. Raider's van that transported Mr. Winn and Mr. Douglas to their house, that it was Mr. Raider's gun and bullets which killed them, that Mr. Raider was the only white person at the crime scene, and it was Mr. Raider who retrieved and cleaned the van afterward. T (1/25/2016, pg. 154, ln. 9 - pg. 156, ln. 14.

The state also presented evidence that Mr. Robins and Mr. Douglas took a circuitous route back to their respective homes driving from Boise to Seattle and then to Mr. Robins's home in Fremont, CA. Mr. Douglas then flew from Portland to his home in Pennsylvania. Exhibit 143.

A jail house letter written by Mr. Douglas to Mr. Robins was admitted, over objection. In the letter, Mr. Douglas admitted to the killings and offered to plead guilty and support Mr. Robins's defense at trial. Exhibit 133. This letter was stolen from Mr. Douglas by another jail inmate and was never received by Mr. Robins. As

will be discussed below, Mr. Robins's motion to sever defendants was based upon this letter.

Mr. Robins was found guilty on all three counts. R 481. He was sentenced to two concurrent life sentences with forty years fixed on Counts I and II, and a concurrent fifteen year fixed sentence on Count III. R 501. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. R 505.

The court later imposed \$184,112.44 in restitution, including \$72,1791.50 to Medicaid State Operations over Mr. Robins's objection. R 521. A timely Amended Notice of Appeal was filed. R 524.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. What is the appropriate remedy for the state's violation of Mr. Robins's attorney-client privilege?
- B. Did the state unlawfully interfere with Mr. Robins's access to his attorney pre-trial and what remedy is appropriate?
- C. Did the court abuse its discretion in denying the motion to sever defendants and then admitting Exhibit 133 at trial over objection and without a limiting instruction?
- D. Did the court abuse its discretion in awarding \$72,791.50 in restitution to Medicaid and by taking judicial notice of the existence of a contractual relationship between Medicaid and the health care providers here?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Not Dismissing the Case or Disqualifying the Ada County Prosecuting Attorney from Prosecuting the Case. The Proper Remedy on Appeal is Dismissal.

1. Facts pertaining to claim

On Monday, May 11, 2015, local defense counsel Scott McKay delivered over 6000 pages of discovery to Mr. Robins at the Ada County Jail. Because of the volume, the jail stored the materials in the law library, allowing Mr. Robins to review them there. R 156.

That same day, Mr. McKay told Mr. Robins that out-of-state counsel Brian McMonagle would be coming soon to discuss the discovery. Mr. McKay advised Mr. Robins to take notes and identify matters to discuss with Mr. McMonagle. *Id*.

On May 14, 2015, the state learned that James Kreider, an inmate in an unrelated case, claimed to have a letter from Mr. Douglas to Mr. Robins which was an attempt to coordinate their stories so as to minimize liability for Mr. Robins. R 241-42. Prosecutor Shelley Akamatsu immediately called Sergeant Ivie at the jail and directed him to search for this letter. T (9/23/2015) pg. 81, ln. 21-p. 84, ln. 22.

Sergeant Ivie called on two deputies to search Mr. Krieder's cell. The deputies were instructed to search for anything that looked like Mr. Robins and Mr. Douglas were trying to talk to each other about the case. But, they found nothing. T (9/23/2015) pg. 23, ln. 19-20; p. 85, ln. 12-16. Ms. Akamatsu then instructed Sergeant Ivie to search Mr. Robins's cell. T (9/23/2015) pg. 87, ln. 11-14.

In that search, Deputy Roller understood that he was to seize any handwritten notes relating to the case that he could find. T (9/23/15) pg. 69, ln. 9-13. And, he found notepaper with questions and notes stored in Mr. Robins's property bin amongst his discovery which the library had allowed him to keep. Sergeant Ivie took possession of the notepaper and booked it into evidence. T (9/23/2015) pg. 35, ln. 9-16; pg. 92, ln. 11-16. Deputy Broooks testified that he inspected the notepaper and saw that it contained questions about the trial. T (9/23/2015) pg. 27, ln. 20-25. The notes did not appear to be a letter; they did not include any names or salutation and were not in an envelope. T (9/23/2015) pg. 78, ln. 1-8.

When Sergeant Ivie booked the notes into evidence, he alerted Ms.

Akamatsu. She said that it sounded promising, so he scanned the notes and emailed them to her. T (9/23/2015) pg. 93, ln. 3-24. Sergeant Ivie testified "[Ms. Akamatsu] was excited that we found something, and she wanted to see it." T (9/23/15) pg. 94, ln. 25-pg. 95, ln. 1.

The evening of May 14, Ms. Akamatsu sent Mr. McMonagle an email stating that the notes had been found in Mr. Robins's cell and booked into evidence. R 160. The notes were admitted as a sealed exhibit. Evidence Hearing Sealed Exhibit 144-49. The district court described them:

The notes at issue deal with Robins' thoughts and commentary

¹ Sergeant Ivie testified that the instruction was to look only for the specific letter between Mr. Douglas and Mr. Robins. T (9/23/15) pg. 84, ln. 16-22.

regarding some very specific facts of the case. It is fair to say that the State has been forewarned as to potential defense strategies.

R 301-02.

The notes include information about a potential alibi and responses that could be made to information contained in the discovery. Evidence Hearing Sealed Exhibit 144-49.

2. Decision of the district court

Mr. Robins filed a motion seeking relief for the violation of his attorney-client privilege. He asked that the court dismiss the pending charges or alternatively that the court order that the Ada County Prosecutor's Office be recused from the case; that the privileged material be returned to counsel for Mr. Robins with no copies retained by the state; that the state be forbidden from making any evidentiary use of its review of the privileged materials and that the state be required to demonstrate in advance of trial that any evidence it intends to offer originated independently of the privileged materials; and that the state be prohibited from seizing and reviewing other privileged materials. R 139-40.

The district court granted in part and denied in part the motion. R 293.

Citing Williams v. Woodford, 384 F.3d 567, 584-85 (9th Cir. 2004), the court applied the standard that when the government deliberately interferes with the confidential relationship between a criminal defendant and defense counsel there is a Sixth Amendment violation if the interference substantially prejudices the defendant. R 299. The court held that the notes were privileged. R 301. The court further held

that Mr. Robins may have been prejudiced because the state "has had an inside look as to how Mr. Robins views his case and his defense." R 302. (At the same time, the court noted that if Mr. Robins had labeled his notes as privileged, "it is likely that the Prosecutor would not have seen them." However, the court did not hold and cited no authority for the proposition that failure to label material as privileged waives the privilege. *Id.*)

The court ordered the state to return all copies of the notes and any memos or notes it made regarding the contents. R 302. However, the court declined to dismiss the case or recuse the prosecutor because the prosecutor said that the notes contained nothing the state did not already know and that she was prepared to point to an independent source for each statement in the notes. R 301-02.

The court further held that if during the trial the defense believed the prosecutor was offering evidence or argument that could have only been obtained from the notes, the onus would be upon the defense to object and then the state would be required to demonstrate an independent source. R 303.

No objections were made on this basis during trial.

3. Standard of review

When an appellant asserts the violation of a constitutional right, [the appellate court] give[s] deference to the trial court's factual findings unless those findings are clearly erroneous.' *State v. Pearce*, 146 Idaho 241, 248, 192 P.3d 1065, 1072 (2008) (citing *State v. Henage*, 143 Idaho 655, 658, 152 P.3d 16, 19 (2007)). '[The appellate court] exercise[s] free review over the trial court's determination as to whether constitutional requirements have been satisfied in light of the facts found.' *Id*.

State v. Dunlap, 155 Idaho 345, 361, 313 P.3d 1, 17 (2013).

To the extent that the choice of remedies is a discretionary decision, to determine whether there is an abuse of discretion the reviewing court will consider whether the lower court (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) reached its decision by an exercise of reason.

Taylor v. McNichols, 149 Idaho 826, 848, 243 P.3d 642, 664 (2010).

4. Why relief should be granted

The attorney-client privilege is the oldest of the privileges for confidential communications. 8 J. Wigmore, Evidence § 2290 (McNaughton rev. 1961).

Its purpose is to encourage full and frank communication between attorneys and their clients and thereby promote broader public interests in the observance of law and administration of justice. The privilege recognizes that sound legal advice or advocacy serve public ends and that such advice or advocacy depends upon the lawyer being fully informed by the client. . . . The lawyer-client privilege rests on the need for the advocate and counselor to know all that relates to the client's reasons for seeking representation if the professional mission is to be carried out. . . . we recognize[] the purpose of the privilege to be to encourage clients to make full disclosure to their attorneys. . . . [the] privilege is founded upon the necessity, in the interest of the administration of justice, of the aid of persons having knowledge of the law and skilled in its practice, which assistance can only be safely and readily availed of when free from the consequences or the apprehension of disclosure.

Upjohn Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 389, 101 S.Ct. 677, 682 (1981) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Violation of the attorney-client confidentiality may deny a defendant the constitutional right of effective assistance of counsel and the right to due process.

U.S. Const. Amends. 5, 6, and 14; Idaho Const. Art. I, § 13. Stuart v. State, 118

Idaho 932, 935, 801 P.2d 1283, 1286 (1990). The right to effective assistance of counsel may not be disregarded by the states and to fulfill the right defendant and counsel must be allowed to discuss freely and confidentially. *Id.* at 934-35, 801 P.2d at 1285-86.

In *Stuart*, Mr. Stuart alleged that the sheriff's department recorded confidential communications; however, he did not allege that the confidential information obtained by the sheriff was shared, as it was in this case, with the prosecutor. Nonetheless, the Supreme Court required that the district court hold an evidentiary hearing to determine whether there was recording and whether Mr. Stuart's constitutional rights were violated.

If such attorney-client conversations are found to have been recorded, the State will be required to show that the evidence at trial had an origin independent of the eavesdropping. *Any knowledge* wrongfully gained by the government cannot be used against a defendant.

Id., citing Nardone v. United States, 308 U.S. 338, 60 S.Ct. 266 (1939) (emphasis added).

Stuart is consistent with the federal case law relied upon by the district court in this case. R 299. As noted by the district court, improper interference by the government with the confidential relationship between a defendant and counsel violates the Sixth Amendment if such interference substantially prejudices the defendant. Williams v. Woodford, 306 F.3d at 683. Substantial prejudice results from the introduction of evidence gained through the interference against the defendant at trial, from the prosecution's use of confidential information pertaining

to defense plans and strategy, and from other actions designed to give the prosecution an unfair advantage at trial. *Id.* at 682 (*citing United States v. Irwin*, 612 F.2d 1182, 1187 (9th Cir. 1980)).

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