Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-4-2017

State v. Robins Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44296

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

sister to contact his attorney. This example illustrates why Robins' argument that "counsel cannot know other than by a phone call that the jailed client has an issue he wants to discuss" (Appellant's Brief, p.25) does not support his claimed Sixth Amendment violation.

Robins tries to minimize the evidence that he was not actually denied access to counsel given his all but non-existent efforts to contact counsel by arguing that just because he "did not need to call counsel before the motion for access, did not mean that he would not need to call counsel after the motion." (Appellant's Brief, p.25.) According to Robins, "the most reasonable expectation is that the need for communication would escalate, not remain constant or decline." (Appellant's Brief, p.25.) This very well may be true, but it also fails to demonstrate an actual constitutional violation. Moreover, the district court did not foreclose Robins' ability to return to the court and seek relief if he was ever actually prejudiced by the telephone schedule. (9/23/2015 Tr., p.183, Ls.5-8.) Robins never did. Robins is not entitled to relief based on a speculative constitutional violation.³

³ Robins argues that "[g]iven there was a violation, the burden is upon the state to prove harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt" and indicates he will "respond to whatever harmlessness arguments the state presents in his Reply Brief." (Appellant's Brief, p.26.) Since Robins has failed to argue, much less demonstrate, that he was actually deprived of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel, there is no constitutional violation that would require a harmless error analysis. The state can hardly be expected to guess what unarticulated prejudice Robins thinks he suffered at trial based on the jail's telephone schedule and make a harmless error argument in response.

III. <u>Robins Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred In Denying His Motion To</u> <u>Sever</u>

A. Introduction

Robins contends the district court abused its discretion in denying his motion to sever his case from his co-defendant Douglas's case, claiming "the facts of his trial demonstrate that unfair prejudice resulted from the joint trial and denied him a fair trial." (Appellant's Brief, p.9.) To the contrary, a review of the record shows that the district court applied the correct legal standards in denying Robins' pretrial motion to sever.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"[A]n abuse of discretion standard is applied when reviewing the denial of a motion to sever joinder pursuant to I.C.R. 14; however, that rule presumes joinder was proper in the first place." <u>State v. Field</u>, 144 Idaho 559, 564, 165 P.3d 273, 278 (2007). The same abuse of discretion standard applies to reviewing the admission of evidence. <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 218, 245 P.3d 961, 970 (2010) (citations omitted). In determining whether the district court abused its discretion, this Court considers "(1) whether the lower court rightly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the court acted within the boundaries of such discretion and consistently with any legal standards applicable to specific choices; and (3) whether the court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." <u>State v. Ellington</u>, 157 Idaho 480, 485, 337 P.3d 639, 644 (2014) (quotations and citation omitted).

C. <u>The District Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion In Denying Robins'</u> <u>Motion To Sever</u>

Robins aided and abetted Douglas in the first degree murders of Elliott Bailey and Travonte Calloway, and in the attempted first degree murder of Jeanette Juraska (R., pp.114-116.) The state originally filed separate cases against Robins and Douglas, but later moved to consolidate them "on the grounds and for the reasons that the facts, evidence and witnesses are the same in each case." (R., pp.42-43.) The district court granted the state's motion, and the cases were consolidated prior to the preliminary hearing at which both defendants were bound over to district court. (R., pp.44, 100-106, 113.)

Approximately four months later, Robins filed a Motion for Relief from Prejudicial Joinder, arguing severance was required because Robins would "suffer unfair prejudice if he [was] tried jointly with" Douglas. (R., p.161.) Robins filed a memorandum in support of his motion in which he more specifically argued that severance was warranted due to the "admissibility of a letter that" Douglas "allegedly" wrote to Robins after their arrest. (R., p.164.) According to Robins, "the introduction of such evidence in a joint trial" would violate his "constitutional right to cross-examine witnesses and would unfairly prejudice him." (R., p.164.) The letter at the center of Robins' motion to sever was written to Robins by Douglas while he and Robins were in custody at the Ada County

Jail.⁴ (R., p.305; <u>see also pp.199-200</u>, 379 (stipulation that Exhibit 133 "was written and authored by John C. Douglas").) In the letter, Douglas wrote:

This is how we gonna play this. You get with your Ls tell him you want to cut a deal. But this is what you tell them, Tone ordered 30 ps. Them dudes took the 30 ps from Tone. He called you asked you did you know anybody who wanted to put in some work. You called me told me somebody, 'Tone," wanted to holler at me so Tone flew me down there Boise told me what he wanted me to do. Only reason you and Cook was down there was to pick me up and head out to Vegas or somewhere to party for Cook's birthday. So when y'all got down there we all kicked it for a couple of days. The day of the murder you went where you went and Cook went to the strip club. When you got back that's when I said ya we out. That's when you said Cook had the van keys. That's when you called girl to take us to the stip club, you still didn't know what happened at this time. We got Cook, came back. You hit girl. We packed and People started hiting you up telling you what happened. left. That's when you asked me what what's up. That's when i told you i bodyed them 2 dudes. Now listen, this is the story you have to fill in the blanks. You tell them everything he said you did you tell them he did. Once you get back at me and let me know you got the deal you want, i will let them know i want to plea out. That's when i will back your story about Tone was the driver and he gave me money, gun, everything, not you. Run this by your Ls and get back with me. Ant⁵, no need both of us going down. I already know y'all will play y'all part because love & loyalty. Tell your Ls to get at me so we can put this shit in motion A.S.A.P. P.S. or do you want to go with i plea out and you go to trial? Call me for witness and tell them Tone drove the van, gave me the gun. I put this hit together, it's your call. Get with your tell him to come see me or what ever. Let me know which way to go.

> Peace Love Big Homie J

⁴ As noted by the district court, it is this letter "that was the subject of the search" that resulted in the collection of the document that was the subject of Robins' breach of attorney-client privilege claim. (R., p.304 n.18.)

⁵ Robins suggests this word is "aint" (Appellant's Brief, p.27); the state submits it is "Ant," which is Robins' nickname (<u>see</u> 1/25/2016 Tr., p.10, Ls.9-10).

(Exhibit 133⁶ (some punctuation and capitalization added for readability, otherwise verbatim).)

In rejecting Robins' request for severance, the court determined that, because the letter would be admissible at separate trials, severance was unnecessary. (R., pp.305-312.) The district court's admissibility determination was predicated on I.R.E. 804(b)(3), the statement against interest exception to (R., pp.306-307.) This exception "allows for the admission of a hearsay. statement which was at the time of its making so far contrary to the declarant's penal interest that a reasonable person in the declarant's position would not have made the statement unless the declarant believed it to be true." State v. Averett, 142 Idaho 879, 890, 136 P.3d 350, 361 (Ct. App. 2006). In Averett, the Court referenced a three-part test for determining whether a statement qualifies for admission under I.R.E. 804(b)(3). 142 Idaho at 890, 136 P.3d at 361. That test requires consideration of whether the statement (1) is "genuinely self-inculpatory" to the declarant"; (2) "is made to a private person and does not seek to curry the favor of law enforcement authorities"; and (3) "does not shift blame."⁷ Averett, 142 Idaho at 890, 136 P.3d at 361. Whether a statement is "genuinely selfincriminatory" "requires an examination of context and the factual setting in which

⁶ The letter (Exhibit 133) is included as Appendix A in the Appellant's Brief.

⁷ In <u>State v. Meister</u>, 148 Idaho 236, 243, 220 P.3d 1055, 1062 (2009), the Idaho Supreme Court adopted a seven-factor test to apply "to determine whether the third-party confessions are sufficiently corroborated in accordance with I.R.E. 804(b)(3). Robins has not, however, raised the corroboration requirement as an issue (Appellant's Brief, pp.30-33), nor was it raised as an issue in his motion to sever (R., pp.164-168).

it was given." <u>Averett</u>, 142 Idaho at 890, 136 P.3d at 361. <u>Averett</u> illustrates how I.R.E. 804(b)(3) should be applied.

While in jail, Averett's co-conspirator, Johnston, made statements to her cellmate describing the process she used to make methamphetamine and claiming that "Averett was involved in making methamphetamine, both for his own use and for his personal war against the government." Averett, 142 Idaho at 889-890, 136 P.3d at 360-361. The district court admitted the statements under Id. The Court of Appeals applied the three-part test for I.R.E. 804(b)(3). admission under I.R.E. 804(b)(3), and held "that the major portion of Johnston's declaration [fell] squarely within the [exception]" because the statements "were genuinely self-incriminatory, admitting to Johnston's knowledge, association and direct involvement with the manufacture of methamphetamine, evidencing her desire to enlist [her cellmate] to secrete evidence from the police, as well as attempting to solicit [her cellmate] to help her make more methamphetamine upon her release." Averett, 142 Idaho at 890-891, 136 P.3d at 361-362. The Court reasoned that, "[i]n context, these statements, while uttered in a jail setting, were not given to police as a self-serving confession but to a cellmate in an attempt to expand Johnston's criminal involvement; nor did these declarations attempt to curry favor or shift blame away from Johnston and onto Averett." Id. at 891, 136 P.3d at 362. The only statement the Court of Appeals found should not have been admitted was "Johnston's statement that Averett made methamphetamine for his own use and for his personal war against the government"; this statement was not admissible under I.R.E. 804(b)(3) because it

"was in no way self-inculpatory as to Johnston." <u>Id.</u> The admission of the statement was, however, harmless error. <u>Id.</u>

The district court considered the conditions articulated in <u>Averett</u> and correctly concluded they were satisfied, reasoning:

Here, the letter is genuinely self-inculpatory as to Mr. Douglas as he places the blame on himself for committing the murders. In fact, no part of the letter seeks to shift the blame to Mr. Robins, but rather seeks to give Mr. Robins an alibi, so that both Defendants do not have to "go down" for the crime. In addition, the letter was meant to be delivered to Mr. Robins, not to law enforcement. Indeed, the context would clearly indicate that Mr. Douglas would not want law enforcement to see it. The letter contains statements that were not intended to be given to law enforcement as a selfserving confession, but rather to another inmate in an attempt to create a story which Mr. Douglas believed would help both Defendants in their cases. *See State v. Averett*, 142 Idaho 879, 891, 136 P.3d 350, 362 (Ct. App. 2006).

(R., p.306.)

On appeal, Robins does not contend that Exhibit 133 was inadmissible in its entirety. (Appellant's Brief, pp.30-33.) Robins instead argues that "the court abused its discretion because it admitted [Exhibit 133] *in toto* without individualized consideration of the many statements to determine which fell within the hearsay exception," and that the "court's erroneous ruling on the admissibility of the letter also led it to deny the motion to sever." (Appellant's Brief, p.30.) Robins' argument fails to show reversible error in either the district court's determination regarding the admissibility of Exhibit 133, or in the district court's denial of Robins' request to sever based upon Exhibit 133.

Although the district court did not analyze each statement in Exhibit 133, its analysis did not run afoul of <u>Averett</u> because the entire letter is, in context, a

single self-incriminatory statement in that it details Douglas' willingness to inculpate himself in the murders and absolve Robins, and outlines a story Robins can provide to further this end. In this way, there is no meaningful distinction between Exhibit 133 and the statements deemed admissible in <u>Averett</u>. Robins' claim that the district court failed to comply with <u>Averett</u> is based on a narrow and incorrect reading of what <u>Averett</u> actually requires as evidenced by his argument that the "only portion" of Exhibit 133 that qualified for admission as a statement against interest was Douglas' statement, "I bodyed them 2 dudes." (Appellant's Brief, p.32.) This argument ignores <u>Averett</u>'s acknowledgement that context matters, and that statements are admissible if they are self-inculpatory, as all of Douglas' letter was. <u>Averett</u>, 142 Idaho at 890-891, 136 P.3d at 361-362. Exhibit 133 satisfies the <u>Averett</u> criteria. Robins has failed to show otherwise.

Because the district court correctly concluded that Exhibit 133 was admissible against both Robins and Douglas, Robins was not entitled to severance on the basis that Exhibit 133 was not admissible against him. <u>See</u> I.C.R. 14 (severance required only if defendant is prejudiced by joinder); <u>see also State v. Tankovich</u>, 155 Idaho 221, 227, 307 P.3d 1247, 1253 (Ct. App. 2013) ("When reviewing an order denying a severance motion, the inquiry on appeal is whether the defendant has presented facts demonstrating that unfair prejudice resulted from a joint trial.").

Even if Robins is correct that the district court should have redacted some of the statements contained within Exhibit 133, any error in the admission of those statements was harmless. Idaho Criminal Rule 52 provides that "[a]ny

error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." I.C.R. 52. The inquiry is whether "the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error." <u>State v. Joy</u>, 155 Idaho 1, 11, 304 P.3d 276, 286 (2013) (quoting <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993) (emphasis omitted)).

The only statement Robins identifies as one that "should have been redacted," is the statement, "no need both of us going down." (Appellant's Brief, pp.32-33.) Robins claims this statement "is not an admission of guilt, but rather an evaluation of the state's case which included an evewitness identification of Mr. Douglas by the surviving victim and the informant testimony of Mr. Raider." (Appellant's Brief, pp.32-33.) In context, Douglas' statement "no need both of us going down" is clearly self-inculpatory. Robins' claim to the contrary is without merit. Regardless, even assuming the statement should have been redacted, any error in its admission was harmless in light of the evidence presented at trial supporting the jury's verdicts finding Robins guilty of aiding and abetting Douglas in the murders of Elliott Bailey and Travonte Calloway, and the attempted murder of Jeanette Juraska. (See, e.g., Exhibits 97-99 (phone records); 1/22/2016 Tr., pp.26-137 (Juraska's testimony); 1/25/2016 Tr., pp.6-192 (Raider's testimony).) Given the evidence presented, any error in the admission of the Exhibit 133 was harmless.⁸

⁸ The same harmless error analysis would apply to the motion to sever.

Robins Has Failed To Show The District Court Abused Its Discretion In Awarding Restitution To Medicaid For Payments It Made On Behalf Of Jeanette Juraska And Travonte Calloway For Medical Services They Received After Being Shot

IV.

A. Introduction

The district court awarded restitution to several entities, including Medicaid State Operations ("Medicaid"). (R., p.14.) The award to Medicaid was based on its payment for medical services rendered to Jeanette Juraska and Travonte Calloway after Douglas shot them. (PSI, pp.93-94.) Robins asserts, as he did below, that Medicaid is not entitled to restitution because it does not qualify as a victim for purposes of the restitution statute because there was no evidence that it made the payments pursuant to a contract. (Appellant's Brief, pp.35-40.) Application of the correct legal principles to the facts of this case shows Robins has failed to meet his burden of showing error in relation to the district court's restitution order.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

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